70138-0

70138-0

Court of Appeals No. 70138-0 King County Superior Court No. 12-2-17504-7 SEA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

Estera Grandinaru,

Appellant,

v.

Washington State
Department of Social and Health Services,

Respondent.



The Honorable Bruce Heller, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

By:

Christopher Black Teymur Askerov

Attorneys for Appellant Law Office of Christopher Black, PLLC 705 Second Avenue, Suite 1111 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-1604

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Superior Court erred when it affirmed the Board of Appeals' determination that Ms. Grandinaru financially exploited a vulnerable adult.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Board of Appeals erred as a matter of law when it concluded that taking one cubic centimeter of a vulnerable adult's morphine in an attempt to commit suicide constitutes financial exploitation within the meaning of RCW 74.34.020(6). The Superior Court erred in affirming the Board of Appeals' erroneous legal conclusion.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

On May 2, 2011, the Department of Social and Health Services ("DSHS" or "Department"), Appellee, issued a Notice of Preliminary Findings advising Estera Grandinaru, Appellant, that a DSHS investigation had resulted in a "substantiated finding" of financial exploitation against her. See Certified Administrative Record ("CR") at 103.

Ms. Grandinaru timely requested an administrative hearing. A hearing was held before Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") Carolyn

Pinkett on August 24, 2011. See Transcript ("TR") at 1. On October 26, 2011, Judge Pinkett issued an initial order reversing the Department's substantiated finding and dismissed the case against Ms. Grandinaru. See CR at 37.

The Department appealed to the Board of Appeals ("BOA" or "Board"). The BOA reversed Judge Pinkett's initial order and issued a final order reinstating the substantiated finding against Ms. Grandinaru after concluding that she engaged in financial exploitation of a vulnerable adult in violation of RCW 74.34.200(2). See CR at 1. Ms. Grandinaru sought review of the Board's order in the King County Superior Court. On March 1, 2013, the Superior Court, the Honorable Bruce Heller presiding, issued a decision affirming the Board's order. See Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 47. The instant appeal followed.

B. Facts

The formal findings of fact underlying the BOA's determination are not in dispute. Ms. Grandinaru was the co-owner of Bellevue Rose Adult Family Home. Findings of Fact ("FF") at 1. Ms. Grandinaru suffers from depression and has a history of suicidal ideation. See FF 4. Before the events leading up to the charges in this case, Ms. Grandinaru tried to commit suicide by ingesting her own prescription medications on two previous occasions. See id. Ms. Grandinaru had experienced a

difficult divorce in 2009, and was recommended for partial-day hospitalization by physicians at Overlake Hospital as a result of her depression. See id. Unfortunately, Ms. Grandinaru could not participate in the program because she could not afford it. See id.

On October 12, 2010, Ms. Grandinaru's father, who also owned an adult family home, asked Ms. Grandinaru to pick up some medicine for one of his residents. See FF 7. Ms. Grandinaru was experiencing symptoms of depression and stress resulting from her divorce. See id. Ms. Grandinaru took Elaine's morphine and drove to a park-and-ride, where she attempted to commit suicide by ingesting one-half capful of concentrated morphine (approximately one cubic centimeter or 20 milligrams). See FF 7-8. Her father later found her at the park-and-ride and she was taken to Overlake Hospital where she was admitted to the emergency room and subsequently transferred to the psychiatric ward for suicidal ideation. See FF 7; CR at 95.

Katherine Ander, a DSHS investigator, testified that as a registered nurse, Ms. Grandinaru had the authority to possess patients' prescription medications and delegate duties relating to the administration of medications at the time the incident underlying this case occurred. See

¹ Elaine was a patient at Ms. Grandinaru's adult care home. FF 3. Elaine's last name has been omitted in order to protect her privacy.

TR at 32. Ms. Ander explained that her investigation revealed that Ms. Grandinaru was in charge of medication administration in her own adult care home and in her father's adult care home (a common practice in adult care homes). See id. Ms. Ander also testified that there was no evidence that Ms. Grandinaru was addicted to morphine. TR at 23, 51. The morphine ingested by Ms. Grandinaru was prescribed to Elaine, the alleged victim, as part of a "comfort kit." FF 3. Testimony at the hearing established that Elaine did not require morphine during her stay at the home. Id. Ms. Ander concluded that Ms. Grandinaru's use of Elaine's morphine was an isolated incident and did not qualify as "drug diversion," the practice of taking a patient's prescription medications for personal use or distribution. See TR at 40, 51. Ms. Ander conceded on the record that there would have been no objective medical benefit to Ms. Grandinaru from taking the medication. TR at 49.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Under the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"), when reviewing agency action, the Court of Appeals sits "in the same position as the superior court, applying the standards of the APA directly to the record before the agency." Tapper v. Empl. Sec. Dep't, 122 Wn.2d 397, 402 (1993). An agency action may be reversed if the agency has "erroneously

interpreted or applied the law." RCW 34.05.570(3)(d). When a court reviews an agency's interpretation or application of a statute the "error of law standard" applies. Postema v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 142 Wn. 2d 68, 77 (2000). Under the error of law standard, a court may "substitute its interpretation of the law for the agency's." Id.

B. The Board of Appeals Erred as a Matter of Law When it Concluded that Ms. Grandinaru Financially Exploited a Vulnerable Adult.

The Board erroneously concluded that the ingestion of a patient's morphine in a failed suicide attempt constitutes "financial exploitation" as defined in RCW 74.34.020(6). Because Ms. Grandinaru did not profit or gain an advantage from her failed suicide attempt, her actions did not rise to the level of financial exploitation as that term is defined in the statute. The Board's order should therefore be reversed.

1. The Board's definition of the term "financial exploitation" conflicts with the plain language of the statue.

RCW 74.34.020(6) defines the term "financial exploitation" as:

[T]he illegal or improper use, control over, or withholding of the property, income, resources, or trust funds of the vulnerable adult by any person or entity for person's or entity's *profit or advantage* other than for the vulnerable adult's profit or advantage.

RCW 74.34.020(6) (emphasis added). It is axiomatic that where "a statute is clear on its face, its meaning [should] be derived from the language of

the statute alone." <u>Densley v. Dep't Ret. Sys.</u>, 162 Wn.2d 201, 219 (2007) (quoting <u>Kilian v. Atkinson</u>, 147 Wn.2d 16, 20 (2002)) (alteration in original). In other words, "courts should assume the Legislature means exactly what it says in a statute and apply it as written." <u>Id</u>. (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). It is clear from the plain language of RCW 74.34.020(6), that a finding of financial exploitation requires that an alleged exploiter receive some sort of "profit" or "advantage" from his or her actions. <u>See</u> RCW 74.34.020(6).

It is undisputed that Ms. Grandinaru ingested the morphine for the sole purpose of ending her own life in a failed suicide attempt. See FF 7-8. Nor was it contended below that Ms. Grandinaru profited from her attempt to commit suicide. TR at 69. However, the BOA concluded that Ms. Grandinaru gained an advantage by taking Elaine's morphine. See FF 10. The BOA adopted the following definition of the term "advantage": "benefit, gain, especially benefit resulting from some course of action." Based upon this definition, the BOA reasoned that because taking Elaine's morphine enabled Ms. Grandinaru to "carry out her suicide decision," she had used Elaine's property to her advantage, and that her actions therefore fall within the scope of RCW 7.4.34.020(6).

The BOA's conclusion is unsupported by the evidence and contrary to the plain text of the statute. Even if one adopts the Board's

definition of the term "advantage," Ms. Grandinaru's conduct still does not fit within the scope of RCW 74.34.020(6). It is simply not reasonable to construe an attempt to commit suicide as an act taken for the *benefit* or *gain* of the actor. The evidence in the record supports this conclusion. Ms. Ander, the DSHS investigator, conceded on the record that no medical professional would classify a suicide attempt as an act carried out for the person's benefit. TR at 49.

2. The Board's construction leads to absurd results.

The absurdity of the Board's decision is best demonstrated by comparing Ms. Grandinaru's actions to those of a hypothetical actor who attempts to commit suicide by other means, like the use of a vulnerable adult's gun or rope. Based upon the Board's construction of RCW 74.34.020(6) in Ms. Grandinaru's case, a person who attempts to commit suicide by shooting herself with a vulnerable adult's gun financially exploits the vulnerable adult, because she uses the vulnerable adult's property to her "advantage." The result would be the same in the case of a person who attempted to commit suicide by hanging herself with a rope belonging to a vulnerable adult. This absurd reading of RCW 73.34.020(6) cannot stand.

Washington courts have long recognized that a statute must not be interpreted in a way that leads to absurd results. See Hangartner v. City of

Seattle, 151 Wn.2d 439, 448 (2004) ("We will not interpret a statute in a manner that leads to an absurd result."); State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 444, 450 (2003) ("[A] reading that results in absurd results must be avoided because it will not be presumed that the legislature intended absurd results.") (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). It is difficult to imagine a result more absurd than the one that flows from the BOA's decision in this case. In order to force Ms. Grandinaru's actions into the definition of "financial exploitation," the Board concluded that as a matter of law, an attempt to commit suicide is an act that is taken for one's advantage. This unreasonable legal conclusion must be reversed. See Hangartner, 151 Wn.2d at 448.

3. The Board's definition of "financial exploitation" violates the canon against superfluity.

Additionally, the Board's construction of the term financial exploitation runs contrary to the canon against superfluity. "[I]t is a fundamental principle of statutory construction that courts must not construe statutes so as to nullify, void or render meaningless or superfluous any section or words of the statute." In re Dependency of K.D.S., 176 Wn.2d 644, 656 (2013); Taylor v. City of Redmond, 89 Wn.2d 315, 319 (1977). RCW 74.34.020(6) defines the term "financial exploitation," but the Board's decision in Ms. Grandinaru's case reads the

word "financial" right out of the statute. The word "financial" qualifies the word "exploitation" in RCW 74.34.020(6). The word "financial" is defined by Merriam-Webster's Dictionary as: "relating to finance or financiers." Merriam-Webster's Dictionary Online, http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/financial. The word finance is in turn defined as: "money or other liquid resources of a government, business, group, or individual." Merriam-Webster's Dictionary Online, http://www.meriam-webster.com/dictionary/finance. Thus, it is clear from the statute's text that the type of exploitation that the legislature sought to prevent was exploitation related to a vulnerable adult's finances, i.e., the vulnerable adult's liquid resources, and that the *profit* or *advantage* gained by the other person must be quantifiable in monetary terms. See RCW 74.34.020(6).

This conclusion is supported by the examples of financial exploitation provided in the statute. One example of financial exploitation provided in the statute is "the use of deception . . . by a person or entity in a position of trust . . . to obtain or use the property, income, or trust funds of the vulnerable adult for the benefit of a person or entity other than the vulnerable adult." RCW 74.34.020(6)(a). Another is: "the breach of a fiduciary duty, including, but not limited to, the misuse of a power of attorney, trust, or guardianship appointment that results in the

unauthorized sale, or transfer of the property, income, resources, or trust funds of the vulnerable adult." RCW 74.34.020(6)(b). It is evident from the foregoing examples that the individuals targeted by the statute are trustees, fiduciaries, and other individuals who may pose a threat of misappropriating vulnerable adult's financial assets.

The Board's construction of RCW 74.34.020(6) renders the word "financial" superfluous because it stretches the statute beyond the financial realm to reach actions, like an attempt to commit suicide, that are completely unrelated to the vulnerable adult's finances and that represent no financial gain or benefit. It cannot be seriously contended that Ms. Grandinaru received a financial benefit from her attempt to commit suicide or that her actions had an adverse impact on Elaine's financial assets.² Accordingly, because the BOA's construction of RCW 74.34.020(6) voids the word "financial" as used in the statute, it violates the canon against superfluity. Taylor, 89 Wn.2d at 319.

4. The initial construction adopted by the ALJ presiding over Ms. Grandinaru's hearing is more consistent with the language of the statute.

The construction of "financial exploitation" that was adopted by the ALJ presiding over Ms. Grandinaru's hearing is more consistent with

² It was established at the hearing that Ms. Grandinaru ingested approximately 1 cubic centimeter of morphine, and that Elaine never needed the morphine in the first place. See FF 3, 7.

the language of RCW 74.34.020(2) than the construction adopted by the BOA. The ALJ concluded that Ms. Grandinaru's actions did not amount to financial exploitation because "[suicide] would not have been beneficial, or profitable, for the appellant." CR at 44.

It appears that the main reason that the ALJ and the BOA reached different outcomes in Ms. Grandinaru's case is that the former evaluated Ms. Grandinaru's actions from an objective perspective, whereas the latter evaluated Ms. Grandinaru's actions from Ms. Grandinaru's perspective at the time of her suicide attempt. In other words, the ALJ considered whether Ms. Grandinaru's actions were objectively beneficial or advantageous to her, while the BOA considered whether Ms. Grandinaru subjectively believed that suicide would be beneficial. See CL 10. But, as demonstrated above, RCW 74.34.020(6) requires that the *profit* or advantage flowing from the act of exploitation be financially quantifiable. Thus, even if Ms. Grandinaru subjectively believed that she would benefit by committing suicide, her actions did not constitute financial exploitation because they did not result in financial gain.

Finally, the BOA made much of the fact that Ms. Grandinaru had formed the intent to commit suicide prior to the time that she took Elaine's morphine. See CL 10. But Ms. Grandinaru's intent at the time she took Elaine's morphine is irrelevant to the question of whether Ms. Grandinaru

used Elaine's morphine to her "profit or advantage." Because Ms. Grandinaru obtained no quantifiable profit or advantage from her suicide attempt, her purely self-destructive act cannot be classified as financial exploitation within the meaning of RCW 74.34.020(6).

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons the Court should reverse the order of the Board of Appeals and dismiss the proceedings against Ms. Grandinaru.