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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court Reviews The Final Agency Order, Not The 
Administrative Law Judge's Decision 

This matter is before the Court on appeal from a final agency 

order in an adjudicative proceeding under the Administrative Procedure 

Act (APA), Chapter 34.05 RCW. This Court's review is limited to a 

review of the agency's final order, not the administrative law judge's 
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initial decision. Tapper v. Empl. Sec. Dep't, 122 Wn.2d 397, 403-04, 

858 P.2d 494 (1993) (commissioner's decision, not that of the 

administrative law judge, is the one that the court reviews); Northwest 

Steelhead & Salmon Coun. of Trout Unlimited v. Dep't of Fisheries, 

78 Wn. App. 778, 896 P.2d 1292 (1995) (agency head's findings, not 

ALl's, are reviewed). Therefore, the order for this Court to review is the 

Board of Appeals' April 16, 2012, Review Decision and Final Order. 

AR at 1-12. 

B. Standard Of Review 

This Court applies the AP A standards of review directly to the 

record made before the administrative agency. RCW 34.05.558; 

Heinmiller v. Dep't of Health, 127 Wn.2d 595, 601, 903 P.2d 433 

(1995), cert. denied, 518 U.S. 1006 (1996). With certain exceptions, not 

applicable here, review is confined to the record made before the 

administrative agency, and the Court may not consider new evidence. 

RCW 34.05.558-.562. The Court may grant relief from an agency order 

in an adjudicative proceeding only on the grounds provided under 

RCW 34.05.570(3).2 Tapper, 122 Wn.2d at 402. 

2 Relief may be granted only if (a) the order or rule on which it is based is 
unconstitutional; (b) the order exceeds the agency's statutory authority; (c) the 
decision-making process was unlawful; (d) the agency erroneously interpreted or 
applied the law; (e) the order is not supported by substantial evidence in light of the 
whole record before the court; (t) the agency has not decided all issues requiring 
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Ms. Gradinaru has challenged the legal conclusion that her 

conduct meets the definition of financial exploitation. Appellant's 

Opening Brief (Opening Br.) at 1. The Court reviews de novo both the 

agency's conclusions of law and its application of the law to the facts. 

Tapper, 122 Wn.2d at 402-03. It can modify conclusions of law if the 

agency's review judge "erroneously interpreted or applied the law." 

RCW 34.05.570(3)(d); Heinmiller, 127 Wn.2d at 601. The Court may 

also substitute its legal judgment for that of the reviewing officer, so 

long as it accords "substantial weight" to the agency's interpretations of 

the law within its area of expertise. Macey v. Empl. Sec. Dep't, 

110 Wn.2d 308, 313, 752 P.2d 372 (1988). 

Ms. Gradinaru has the burden of showing the invalidity of the 

Review Decision and Final Order. RCW 34.05.570(1)(a); Hillis v. Dep 'f 

of Ecology, 131 Wn.2d 373, 381, 932 P.2d 139 (1997). The Court may 

grant relief only if it determines that she has been "substantially 

prejudiced" by the agency's actions. RCW 34.05.570(1)(d); Peacock v. 

Pub. Disclosure Comm 'n, 84 Wn. App. 282, 286, 928 P.2d 427 (1996). 

Here, Ms. Gradinaru has not satisfied her burden of showing that the 

resolution by the agency; (g) a motion for disqualification should have been granted; 
(h) the order is inconsistent with the agency's rules ; or (i) the order is arbitrary or 
capricious. RCW 34.05.570(3). 
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Review Decision and Final Order erroneously interpreted or applied the 

law. 

C. Estera Gradinaru's Actions Constitute Financial Exploitation 

The Washington legislature has determined that vulnerable adults 

may be in particular need of protection from abuse, neglect, 

abandonment, or exploitation. Kraft v. Dep't of Social and Health 

Services, 145 Wn. App. 708, 717 (2008). The authority for a finding of 

financial exploitation against Ms. Gradinaru is within Chapter 74.34 

RCW, the statute that deals with the protection of vulnerable adults. A 

finding of financial exploitation prohibits an individual from being 

employed in a capacity that would allow him or her to have 

unsupervised access to vulnerable adults. Former RCW 74.39A.050(8) 

(2011).3 

Former RCW 74.34.020(6) (2010)4 defined "financial 

exploitation" as "the illegal or improper use of the property, income, 

resources, or trust funds of the vulnerable adult by any person for any 

3 This prohibition is now located at RCW 74.39A.056(2). 
4 The definition of financial exploitation was expanded, effective July 22, 2011, 

to include the ability to make a fmding against an entity and, to also make a finding 
against someone for improperly controlling or withholding property, income, resources, 
or trust funds . Therefore, the current definition of financial exploitation is "the illegal or 
improper use, control over, or withholding of the property, income, resources, or trust 
funds of the vulnerable adult by any person or entity for any person's or entity's profit or 
advantage other than for the vulnerable adult's profit or advantage." RCW 74.34.020(6) 
(emphasis added). Three non-exclusive examples were also added to the definition. 
These amendments to the statute were effective after the agency action in this case and do 
not change the outcome here. 
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person's profit or advantage other than for the vulnerable adult's profit 

or advantage." The terms "advantage" and "profit" are undefined in 

chapter 74.34 RCW. When a statutory term is undefined, the court may 

look to a dictionary for its ordinary meaning. In re Estate of Blessing, 

174 Wn.2d 228,231,273 P.3d 975 (2012).(intemal citations omitted). 

The dictionary definitions of advantage and profit are what the 

Department used to evaluate Ms. Gradinaru's conduct in finding that her 

actions constituted financial exploitation. The Board of Appeals defined 

"advantage" as "[ a] benefit, gain, especially benefit resulting from some 

course of action". Webster's Ninth New Coli. Dictionary 59 (1987). See 

AR at 43-44. "Profit" was defined as "a valuable return: gain" or "to 

derive benefit." Webster's Ninth New Coli. Dictionary 939 (1987). See 

AR at 44. Taking Elaine's morphine benefited Ms. Gradinaru because, 

by stealing it, she was able to acquire or gain a medication for which she 

had no prescription, and use it for her own purpose. 

Ms. Gradinaru contends that, while she did take Elaine's 

morphine and ingest it, her actions do not amount to "financial 

exploitation" because there is no profit or advantage to her committing 

suicide. Opening Br. at 5-6. Ms. Gradinaru also incorrectly claims it is 

undisputed that she was attempting suicide when she ingested Elaine's 

morphine. Opening Br. at 6. 
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While it is true that Ms. Gradinaru told hospital staff that she took 

the morphine in a failed suicide attempt, Ms. Gradinaru refused to testify 

at the hearing, and she did not clarify her exact purpose for ingesting 

Elaine's morphine. In a civil proceeding, a fact-finder may draw 

negative inferences when a witness refuses to answer on the grounds that 

her answer may tend to incriminate her. Ikeda v. Curtis, 43 Wn.2d 449, 

458, 261 P.2d 684 (1953); State Farm Fire and Cas. Co. v. Huynh, 

92 Wn. App. 454,462, 963 P.2d 854 (1998). Here, the fact-finder could 

infer, from Ms. Gradinaru's refusal to testify, that she acquiesces to the 

factual allegations made against her. Further, the fact-finder could infer 

from Ms. Gradinaru's invocation of the Fifth Amendment that 

Ms. Gradinaru acknowledged that her actions may have been illegal. 

Ms. Gradinaru's interpretation of the financial exploitation statute 

would require the Department to evaluate the motivations of caregivers 

even when they have clearly stolen something that belongs to a 

vulnerable adult. If the Department were required to determine a 

singular purpose motivating Ms. Gradinaru to take the morphine, the 

Department would have to guess at the multiple possible purposes that 

Ms. Gradinaru may have had for taking the medication. 

Ms. Gradinaru made multiple references to Department 

investigators regarding her physical pain and the need to alleviate it. 
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Furthennore, Ms. Gradinaru's actions of taking the morphine, then 

immediately calling her ex-husband, may indicate that she was seeking 

attention as well. Finally, her statements to the hospital staff and 

investigators also indicate she may have been attempting to commit 

suicide. To reach the conclusion that Ms. Gradinaru committed financial 

exploitation, the Department did not have to detennine which of these 

multiple possible purposes Ms. Gradinaru had when she took and 

ingested Elaine's morphine. Whatever Ms. Gr;ldinaru's exact purpose, 

she furthered that purpose with her actions, and there is no contention 

that she ingested the medication to profit or advantage Elaine. In other 

words, taking the morphine gained her the opportunity to achieve 

whatever goal Ms. Gradinaru was pursuing, regardless of whether she 

wished to commit suicide, get attention, or relieve physical pain. 

D. An "Advantage Or Profit" Does Not Require An Objectively 
Positive Outcome 

Ms. Gradinaru contends that a finding of financial exploitation is 

an absurd result in this case because she was trying to commit suicide. 

This theory appears to be based on the concept that suicide is inherently 

self-destructive and cannot be considered a benefit or gain for a person, 

even if that individual wishes to die and steals a vulnerable adult's 

property to further that goal. See Opening Br. at 7-8. 
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It is true that courts should avoid absurd results so long as no 

harm is done to the words of the statute. State v. Hall, 168 Wn.2d 726, 

737, 230 P .3d 1048 (2010). However, it is not an absurd legal result to 

determine that the definition of financial exploitation includes when an 

individual takes and ingests a vulnerable adult's medication for a desired 

. purpose, self-destructive or not. 

To support a finding of financial exploitation, the benefit or gain 

that an individual receives when he or she illegally or improperly uses 

the property of a vulnerable adult does not need to be objectively 

positive. For example, Ms. Gradinaru has never disputed financial 

exploitation occurs where a caregiver takes and ingests a vulnerable 

adult's medication to feed the caregiver'S own substance abuse. If 

taking and ingesting a vulnerable adult's medication for the self

destructive purpose of substance abuse, supports a finding of financial 

exploitation, then certainly doing the san1e thing for the self-destructive 

purpose of committing suicide must also qualify as a financial 

exploitation. Arguably, the act of stealing property from anyone, least of 

all a vulnerable adult, is objectively self-destructive because stealing can 

lead to many potential negative outcomes, like going to jailor being 

barred from working in certain settings. Simply because an action is 

15 



self-destructive, it does not become a defense to a finding of financial 

exploitation. 

As described above, it is unclear what Ms. Gradinaru' s intent was 

on the day she ingested the morphine. However, it is absolutely clear 

from the record that Ms. Gradinaru did in fact use morphine that belonged 

to a vulnerable adult in her care. Even if her motivation was suicide, as 

the April 16, 2012, Review Decision and Final Order correctly 

acknowledges: 

The theft of morphine is more accurately analyzed through 
[Ms. Gradinaru' s] mindset at the time of the theft, and 
whether she anticipated any benefit or gain. At the time of 
the drug theft, [Ms. Gradinaru] was in emotional and 
physical pain and wanted to commit suicide. By stealing 
Elaine's morphine, she gained an opportunity to reduce her 
pain and carry out her suicide decision. Because 
[Ms. Gradinaru] specifically acquired the morphine in order 
to gain this opportunity, it must be concluded that she 
financially exploited Elaine. 

AR at 8-9 at Conclusion of Law 10. 

E. Monetary Benefit Or Monetary Profit Are Not Required To 
Meet The Statutory Definition Of Financial Exploitation 

Ms. Gradinaru further contends that her actions are financial 

exploitation only if the benefit or advantage that she received is 

"quantifiable in monetary terms." She asserts that to determine otherwise 

would eliminate the word "financial" from the statute, thus violating the 

canon of statutory construction that statutory terms should not be rendered 
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meaningless. Opening Br. at 8-10. This position ignores that "financial 

exploitation" is a term of art that is expressly defined in statute. It is an 

axiom of statutory interpretation that, where a term is defined, the Court 

uses the statutory definition. Only where a term is undefined will the 

language be given its plain and ordinary meaning. Us. v. Hoffman, 

154 Wn.2d 730, 741 , 116 P.3d 999 (2005). Therefore, "financial 

exploitation" means exactly what it is statutorily defined to mean: "the 

illegal or improper use of the property, income, resources, or trust funds of 

the vulnerable adult by any person for any person's profit or advantage 

other than for the vulnerable adult's profit or advantage." Former 

RCW 74.34.020(6) (2010). The only defense articulated in the statute is if 

the profit or advantage is for the vulnerable adult. There is no other limit 

regarding the type of profit or advantage an individual must attain for the 

conduct to be financial exploitation. The statute does not limit the benefit 

or advantage to monetary benefits. 

To support the position that any advantage or profit must be 

monetary, Ms. Gradinaru cites to two non-exclusive examples of financial 

exploitation that were added to the definition of financial exploitation 

more than two months after the preliminary finding of financial 
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exploitation was made against Ms. Gradinaru. 5 Opening Br. at 9. Even if 

the non-exclusive examples in the 2011 amendments applied at the time a 

finding was made against Ms. Gradinaru, she only cites to two of the three 

new examples. The third new example, at RCW 74.34.020(6)(c), actually 

supports the position that the advantage or benefit does not need to be 

monetary. 

RCW 74.34.020(6)(c) states that another example of financial 

exploitation is: 

Obtaining or using a vulnerable adult's property, income, 
resources, or trust funds without lawful authority, by a 
person or entity who knows or clearly should know that the 
vulnerable adult lacks the capacity to consent to the release 
or use of his or her property, income, resources, or trust 
funds. 

As the Review Decision and Final Order in this case correctly point out, 

Ms. Gradinaru's actions plainly fall within this example because she used 

Elaine's prescription morphine without lawful authority, knowing that 

Elaine lacked the capacity to consent to her use. AR at 8. 

To the extent it could be considered error for the Board of Appeals 

to reference these examples because they were not part of the statute in 

effect when the finding of financial exploitation was made against 

Ms. Gradinaru, such error is harmless as the examples do not change that 

5 The preliminary finding was made against Ms. Gradinaru on May 2, 2011 . 
AR at 103. Amendments to the definition of financial exploitation, to include three non
exclusive examples, became effective on July 22, 2011. Laws of 2011 , ch. 170, § 1 at 3. 
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Ms. Gradinaru's conduct fits the definition of financial exploitation in 

effect at the time she committed the acts. Error without prejudice is not 

grounds for reversal, and error will not be considered prejudicial unless it 

affects, or presumptively affects, the outcome of the case. Thomas v. 

French, 99 Wn.2d 95, 104, 659 P.2d 1097 (1983). The lack of any 

prejudice to Ms. Gradinaru regarding the use of examples is also 

demonstrated by the fact that, as described above, she cites to them as 

well. 

v. CONCLUSION 

Ms. Gradinaru took a vulnerable adult's medication for her own 

use. Regardless of whether she was attempting to commit suicide, or 

attempting to further some other purpose, she illegally or improperly 

used the property of a vulnerable adult to further that purpose. This 

III 

III 

III 

III 

III 

III 

III 

III 
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Court should uphold the Review Decision and Final Order affinning the 

Department's detennination that Ms. Gradinaru financially exploited a 

vulnerable adult.